IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI  
COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CC-00859

T

SUN VISTA, INC.

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NO. 2009-CC-00859

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT  
SECURITY

APPELLEE

---

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

1. Whether the Board of Review, Mississippi Department of Employment Security, erred when it determined that David Alford was an employee of Sun Vista.
2. Whether the Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi, First Judicial District, erred by affirming the decision of the Board of Review, Mississippi Department of Employment Security.

**II.**

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On April 24, 2007, David Alford filed his initial claim for benefits with the Mississippi Department of Employment Security (the "Department"). (R. Vol. 3, pg. 1; R.E. 0015). On July 10, 2007, a representative of the Department issued an inter-office communication stating that "The general manager of the firm, Jim Gurley, insist(s) that the claimant never worked for Sun Vista but rather for a subcontractor by the name of "Jose." (R. Vol. 3, pg. 8; R.E. 0016). On September 11, 2007, the Department issued a decision holding that under Miss. Code. Ann. §71-5-11 I (14) an employee-employer relationship existed between Sun Vista and David Alford. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 18-19; R.E. 0021-0022). On September 17, 2007, Sun Vista filed a protest of the Department's decision stating that Sun Vista did not pay an hourly rate to David Alford and did not provide David Alford with tools. (R. Vol 3, pg. 21; R.E. 0023). The protest further alluded to the fact that Jose De La Luz

Medrano a/k/a “Jose” employed David Alford and that Sun Vista did not. (R. Vol 3, pg. 21; R.E. 0023).

A telephonic hearing was held on December 7, 2007 before Administrative Law Judge Gary Holmes.<sup>1</sup> (R. Vol. 3, pg. 35; R.E. 0028). David Alford did not participate in the telephonic hearing and could not be cross-examined. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 35-86; R.E. 0028-0079). Administrative Law Judge Gary Holmes (the “ALJ”) upheld the Department’s ruling. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 109-112; R.E. 0003-0006). Sun Vista appealed the ALJ’s decision to the Board of Review, Mississippi Department of Employment Security ( the “Board”). (R. Vol. 3, pg. 114; R.E. 0080). The Board issued an opinion upholding the ALJ’s ruling on May 1, 2008. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 115-116; R.E. 0007-0008). The Board’s decision wholly adopted the Findings of Fact and Opinion of the ALJ. (R. Vol. 3 pg. 115-116; R.E. 0007-0008).

Appellant filed its Petition for Judicial Review of Decision of the Mississippi Department of Employment Security, Board of Review in the Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi, on May 20, 2008. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 117; R.E. 0081). On or about August 15, 2008, following the filing of said Petition, Appellant made contact with the elusive Jose De La Luz Medrano who was incarcerated in Big Springs, Texas. (Exhibit to R., Brief of Appellant, Exhibit “B” thereto; R.E. 0098-0100). Appellant nor Appellee could locate Mr. Medrano prior to that time. On or about October 1, 2008, Appellant filed its Brief of the Appellant Praying for Reversal of the Board of Review’s Decision, or, In the Alternative, Motion to Remand in Light of Newly Discovered Evidence (the “Brief of the Appellant”). (Exhibit to R., Brief of Appellant; R.E. 0082-0099). Attached to the Brief of Appellant was an independent contractor agreement signed by Jose De La Luz Medrano and an affidavit of Mr. Medrano showing that Mr. Medrano was an independent

---

<sup>1</sup> The Court should note that an in-person hearing was requested by Sun Vista, Inc.; however, said request was denied. (R. Vol 3, pg. 26-27; R.E. 0024-0025).

contractor of Sun Vista and that Mr. Medrano, not Sun Vista, employed David Alford. (Exhibit to R., Brief of Appellant, Exhibit "A" and "B" thereto; R.E. 0097-0100). The affidavit and independent contractor agreement corroborate Sun Vista's long-standing contention that David Alford was employed by Jose De La Luz Medrano, not Sun Vista. (Exhibit to R., Brief of Appellant, Exhibit "A" and "B" thereto; R.E. 0097-0100).

Oral arguments were held in the Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi, First Judicial District (the "Circuit Court") on January 30, 2009. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 1; R.E. 0011). Among other things, Sun Vista argued that the affidavit of Mr. Medrano substantiated the entire testimony of Sun Vista and that the Board relied only on unreliable hearsay evidence of David Alford in making its decision. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 7-9; R.E. 0012-0014). Sun Vista asked that the decision of the Board be reversed, or in the alternative, that the matter be remanded. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 24; R.E. 0014). Despite the showing in the Circuit Court, Judge William Coleman affirmed the decision of the Board. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 15; R.E. 0009).

### III.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Board's decision was based on insufficient evidence and was arbitrary and capricious. As the record shows and as will be outlined: Sun Vista was not the employer of David Alford. Sun Vista did not supervise or control the work of David Alford in any manner whatsoever. Sun Vista did not tell David Alford when to report for work or what to do while there. Sun Vista did not pay David Alford an hourly rate, and no such rate was set by Sun Vista. Sun Vista did not provide tools to David Alford, and Sun Vista owns no tools. David Alford did not submit an employment application to Sun Vista.

As Sun Vista has stated since the beginning of this dispute, David Alford was employed by an independent contractor of Sun Vista, Jose De La Luz Medrano. Jose De La Luz Medrano was

paid by Sun Vista for each job he bid. Jose De La Luz Medrano entered an independent contractor agreement with Sun Vista. Jose De La Luz Medrano controlled the work of David Alford and told David Alford when to arrive at work and when to leave work. Jose De La Luz Medrano told David Alford what to do while on the job, and Sun Vista was only interested in the finished product of the work of Jose De La Luz Medrano and his employees.

The ALJ and subsequently the Board had only the hearsay testimony of David Alford to rely on in making their determinations. David Alford was never cross-examined. At the ALJ hearing, Sun Vista showed through direct testimony that it was not David Alford's employer. The Department relied on the hearsay testimony of two of its representatives and an Independent Contractor Questionnaire completed by David Alford to attempt to show otherwise. The hearsay testimony is insubstantial, and at times, inconsistent. Further, the Independent Contractor Questionnaire appears to have been filled out by two different parties, and is thus wholly unreliable. The Board's decision was arbitrary and capricious and unsupported by substantial evidence. Its decision and the decision of the Circuit Court should be reversed or, in the alternative, this matter should be remanded to the Department for proceedings consistent with Sun Vista's showing herein and this Court's findings related thereto.

#### IV.

#### ARGUMENT

In this matter, the Board's decision may be reversed if: 1) is not supported by substantial evidence, 2) is arbitrary and capricious, 3) is beyond the scope or power granted to the ruling entity or 4) violates a party's constitutional rights. *Mississippi Department of Employment Security v. Harbin*, 11 So. 3d 137, 139 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). However, "when there is convincing evidence that the administrative judge has adopted all but verbatim the proposed findings of a party, and the Commission has then adopted those findings, (the appellate court) 'must view the challenged

findings of fact and the appellate record as a whole with a more critical eye to ensure that the (Commission) has adequately performed its function.” *Greenwood Utilities v. Williams*, 801 So.2d 783 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001).

The appellate court’s duty is to determine the sufficiency of the evidentiary basis of the lower body’s decision. *Mississippi Employment Sec. Comm’n v. Gilbert Home Health Agency*, 909 So. 2d 1142 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). When a decision is not based on substantial evidence, “it necessarily follows that the decision is arbitrary and capricious.” *I.C.C. v. Union Pac. R. Co.*, 222 U.S. 541, 547, 32 S. Ct. 108 (1912)). Further, “Employment security contribution assessments are an excise tax and, therefore, every doubt as to their application must be resolved in favor of the taxpayer and against the taxing power.” *Miss. Employment Sec. Comm’n v. PDN, Inc.* 586 So. 2d 838, 849 (Miss. 1991).

**A. The Board and Circuit Court’s Decision Should be Reversed.**

**1. Law Governing Determination of Whether an Employer/Employee Relationship Existed.**

Miss. Code Ann. §71-5-11 I (14) states:

Services performed by an individual for wages shall be deemed to be Employment subject to this chapter unless and until it is shown to the satisfaction of the Department that such individual has been and will continue to be free from control and direction over the performance of such services both under his contract of service and in fact; and the relationship of employer and employee shall be determined in accordance with the principles of the common law governing the relation of master and servant.

Miss. Code Ann. §71-5-11 I (14) dictates that the relationship of employer and employee shall be determined in accordance with the principles of the common law governing the relation of master and servant. Factors to be considered at common law are:

- (a) the extent of control exercised over the details of the work;
- (b) whether or not the one employed is engaged in a distinct occupation or business;
- (c) the skill required in the particular occupation;



- (d) whether the employer supplies the tools and place of work for the person doing the work;
- (e) the length of time for which the person is employed;
- (f) the method of payment, whether by the time or by the job; and
- (g) whether or not the work is a part of the regular business of the employer.

*Mississippi Employment Sec. Comm'n v. PDN, Inc.*, 586 So. 2d 838, 841 to 842 (Miss. 1991) (citing *Mississippi Employment Sec. Comm'n v. Plumbing Wholesale Co.*, 69 So. 2d 814 (Miss. 1954)).

"The primary factor is the right to or degree of control." *Mississippi Employment Sec. Comm'n v. PDN, Inc.*, 586 So. 2d 838, 842 (Miss. 1991).

2. **Facts in the Record Show an Employer/Employee Relationship Did Not Exist between Sun Vista and David Alford.**

The Board's decision is unsupported by substantial evidence and is arbitrary and capricious. Jim Gurley, secretary/treasurer of Sun Vista, offered extensive testimony during the telephonic hearing held on December 7, 2007 (R. Vol. 3., pg. 53-73; R.E. 0046-0066); however, no live testimony of David Alford, the alleged employee, was offered. (R. Vol. 3; R.E. 0028-0079). David Alford has never submitted to direct examination by a representative of Sun Vista, and, as such, the Board and Circuit Court could only rely on hearsay statements of David Alford in making their determination. (R. Vol. 3; R.E. 0028-0079). The record shows that Sun Vista did not control the work of David Alford, that Sun Vista did not hire David Alford, that David Alford was an employee of Jose De La Luz Medrano, that Jose De La Luz Medrano was an independent contractor of Sun Vista, that David Alford's work was controlled by Jose De La Luz Medrano and that Sun Vista did not provide any tools to David Alford (*citations to follow*). To cite specifically:

- 1. David Alford, the party in question, did not complete an employment application form with Sun Vista, and the Department has not produced an employment application. (See generally R. Vol. 3; R.E. 0028-0079; R. Vol. 3 pg., 46, 60; R.E. 0039, 0053).
- 2. Sun Vista did not pay an hourly rate to David Alford and no such rate was set by Sun Vista. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 56-57; R.E. 0049-0050).
- 3. Sun Vista did not provide David Alford with tools necessary to perform his job; Sun Vista owns no tools. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 57, 61, 74; R.E. 0050, 0054, 0067).

4. Sun Vista did not and does not know or control what hours David Alford worked or what days of the week he worked. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 59-61; R. E. 0052-0054).
5. Sun Vista did not supervise or control the work of David Alford in any manner whatsoever. ( R. Vol. 3, pg. 59-61; R.E. 0052-0054); (*see also*, Exhibit to R., Brief of Appellant, Exhibit "A" thereto, Independent Contractor Agreement of Jose De La Luz Medrano; R.E. 0097; Exhibit to R., Brief of Appellant, Exhibit "B" thereto, Affidavit of Jose De La Luz Medrano; R.E. 0098-0100).
6. Jose De La Luz Medrano was a subcontractor of Sun Vista and was paid by Sun Vista for the job he bid not by the hour. (R. Vol. 3 pg. 56, 62; R.E. 0049, 0055; R. Vol. 3, pg. 76; R.E. 0069, Testimony of Jeffery Armstrong); (*see also*, Exhibit to R., Brief of Appellant, Exhibit "A" thereto; R.E. 0097; Exhibit to R., Brief of Appellant, Exhibit "B" thereto; R.E. 0098-0100).
7. Jose De La Luz Medrano was empowered to and did hire a subcontractor to aid him in performing his duties to Sun Vista. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 76, Testimony of Jeffery Armstrong; R.E. 0069).
8. Jose De La Luz Medrano entered into an independent contractor agreement with Sun Vista. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 56, 64, 76; R.E. 0049, 0057, 0069); (*see also*, Exhibit to R., Brief of Appellant, Exhibit "A" thereto; R.E. 0097; Exhibit to R. Brief of Appellant, Exhibit "B" thereto; R.E. 0098-0100).
9. Jose De La Luz Medrano was responsible for the work performed by David Alford; David Alford wrote in a form provided by the Mississippi Department of Employment Security that "I show up and Jose told us what to do." (R. Vol. 3, pg. 9; R.E. 0017; (*see also*, Exhibit to R., Brief of Appellant, Exhibit "A" thereto; R.E. 0097; Exhibit to R. Brief of Appellant, Exhibit "B" thereto; R.E. 0098-0100).
10. Sun Vista has no knowledge as to what services were to be performed by David Alford. (R. Vol. 3, pg.53-73; R.E. 0046-0066).
11. Sun Vista did not have top priority on David Alford's services. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 80, 82; R.E. 0073, 0075, Testimony of Larry Ladner, Field Representative of Department); (*see also*, Exhibit to R., Brief of Appellant, Exhibit "A" thereto; R.E. 0097; Exhibit to R., Brief of Appellant, Exhibit "B" thereto; R.E. 0098-0100).
12. Since Sun Vista had no relationship with David Alford, it could not terminate his services nor could David Alford terminate services with Sun Vista. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 62; R.E. 0055); (*see also*, Exhibit to R., Brief of Appellant, Exhibit "A" thereto; R.E. 0097; Exhibit to R. Brief of Appellant, Exhibit "B" thereto; R.E. 0098-0100).
13. The Department offered no live testimony of David Alford at the telephonic hearing to support its position, but relied only on the testimony of two of its employees, a field representative named Larry Ladner and a status specialist in Tax Department of

the Department named Noreen Pouty. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 41; R.E. 0034, Testimony of Noreen Pouty; R. Vol. 3, pg. 82; R.E. 0075, Testimony of Larry Ladner).

Notwithstanding the other factors outlined above, the primary factor in determining whether an employer/employee relationship exists is whether an alleged employer had the right to control and did control the work of an alleged employee. *Mississippi Employment Sec. Comm'n v. PDN, Inc.*, 586 So. 2d 838, 842 (Miss. 1991). In this instance, no direct evidence has been presented by Department that Sun Vista controlled or had the right to control the work of David Alford. Contrarily, Sun Vista did not supervise or control the work of David Alford in any manner whatsoever ( R. Vol. 3; pg. 59-60; R.E. 0052-0053) , but an independent contractor of Sun Vista did control the work of David Alford. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 9; R.E. 0017). The Department produced and the Board reviewed no evidence showing that Sun Vista controlled the actions of David Alford. Notwithstanding the clear showing of the facts outlined above (including a showing that Sun Vista did not control the work of David Alford) and an absence of any direct testimony from David Alford, the Board found that David Alford was an employee of Sun Vista and the Circuit Court affirmed the Board's decision. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 116; R.E. 0008) (R. Vol. 1, pg. 15; R. E. 0009). As shown by the record on appeal, pertinent parts of which are cited above, the Board of Review's decision is unsupported by substantial facts and is arbitrary and capricious.

3. ***No Substantial Evidence Exists showing that David Alford was the Employee of Sun Vista.***

David Alford did not testify at the hearing before the Administrative Law Judge (the "ALJ"), and Sun Vista has not been afforded an opportunity to cross-examine Mr. Alford. (R. Vol. 3; R.E. 0028-0079). The live testimony of Mr. Alford would exonerate Sun Vista much like the affidavit of Jose De La Luz Medrano and the record on appeal exonerate Sun Vista.

At hearing, the ALJ considered direct evidence presented by Sun Vista in the form of testimony of a principal of Sun Vista, Jim Gurley, and the testimony of an independent contractor

of Sun Vista, Jeffrey Armstrong. (R. Vol. 3, pg 53, 72; R.E.0046, 0065). The ALJ considered hearsay evidence presented by the Department in the form of an Independent Contractor Questionnaire completed by David Alford and the testimony of two representatives of the Department. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 9, 40- 41, 78; R.E. 0017, 0033-0034, 0071). As evidenced by the ALJ's opinion, the ALJ relied on the hearsay testimony (i.e. the Independent Contractor Questionnaire and the testimony of representatives of the Department) to make its determination and disregarded all of the direct evidence presented by Sun Vista.<sup>2</sup> (R. Vol. 3, pg. 109-112; R.E. 0003-0006). The ALJ and Board did not offer any analysis of the direct evidence presented by Sun Vista, and the Board wholly adopted the findings of fact of the ALJ. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 109-112, 115-116; R.E. 0003-0006 and R.E. 0007-0008).

**3(a) Hearsay Testimony of Representatives of the Department:**

The Department's argument has and will rely heavily on its observation that "Mr. Ladner (MDES Tax Field Representative) testified that he interviewed Mr. Alford and was told that Sun Vista told him where to work, what time to be there, and what to do while he was on the job. Mr. Alford also told Mr. Ladner that he was paid by Sun Vista and Sun Vista provided tools to Mr. Alford to complete his work." (Exhibit to R., Brief of Appellee, pg. 9; R.E. 0112). In other words, Mr. Alford allegedly told Mr. Ladner who told him when to show up for work, and then Mr. Ladner told the Administrative Law Judge what Mr. Alford had previously told him.

The ALJ accepted this tenuous evidence as substantial and the Board wholly adopted the ALJ's findings. The whole scheme is confusing, insubstantial and unreliable. This Court should

---

<sup>2</sup> The ALJ focused on factors which could show that David Alford was not the independent contractor of the Sun Vista rather than focusing on factors which show that David Alford was the employee of someone other than Sun Vista. (*see*, R. Vol. 3, pg. 109-112; R.E. 0003-0006). The ALJ's decision was adopted summarily and without written analysis by the Board. (*see*, R. Vol. 3, pg. 115-116; R.E. 0007-0008, Board Decision).

contrast the unreliable hearsay testimony presented to the ALJ to Mr. Gurley's direct testimony that Sun Vista owns no tools, that Sun Vista did not and does not know or control what hours David Alford worked or what days of the week he worked, and that Sun Vista did not supervise or control the work of David Alford in any manner whatsoever. (R. Vol. 3. pg. 57, 61, and 74; R.E. 0050, 0054, 0067).<sup>3</sup> To corroborate the testimony of Jim Gurley, Mr. Medrano's affidavit shows that Mr. Medrano controlled the work of David Alford and was his employer. (Exhibit to R., Brief of Appellant, Exhibit "B" thereto; R.E. 0098-0100).

Further, the field representative of the Department assigned to this matter, Larry Ladner, could not descriptively report what Sun Vista allegedly told Mr. Alford to do, and revealed that "[Mr. Alford] was on Jose's crew.... from what I remember....he pretty well did what Jose told him to do." (R. Vol. 3, pg. 80; R.E. 0073). So, based on Mr. Ladner's self-serving hearsay testimony, it was not Sun Vista that controlled Mr. Alford's actions, but Mr. Medrano who controlled Mr. Alford's actions. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 80; R.E. 0073). This testimony fully comports with the content of Mr. Alford's Independent Contractor Questionnaire on which Mr. Alford wrote "I show up...and Jose told us what to do," and Mr. Medrano's affidavit which states "I required that David Alford be at work from 8 a.m. until 4 p.m., and I gave him specific instructions and direction in the daily performance of his duties as my employee." (R. Vol. 3, pg. 9; R.E. 0017; Exhibit to R., Brief of Appellant, Exhibit "B" thereto; R.E. 0098-0100).

The hearsay testimony of representatives of the Department is unreliable. The Board's Decision is not based on substantial evidence and should be overturned. *Johnson v. Mississippi Employment Sec. Com'n* (Miss. 2000).

---

<sup>3</sup> No party has ever contended that Sun Vista directed the work of David Alford while Mr. Alford was on the job.

**3(b) Hearsay Testimony in the form of an Independent Contractor Questionnaire:**

Apart from the hearsay testimony of the Department's representatives, the Board had the Independent Contractor Questionnaire of David Alford to rely upon. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 9; R.E. 0017). David Alford was never cross-examined as to the contents of the Independent Contractor Questionnaire, as such, the testimony contained therein is unreliable. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 33-38; R.E. 0026-0031).

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