209-CC-00859-E

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mississippi Code Annotated Section 71-5-11 J(14) provides that services performed by an individual for wages shall be deemed to be employment subject to this Chapter, unless and until it is shown to the satisfaction of the Agency that such an individual has been and will continue to be free from control and direction over the performance of such service both under his contract of services, and in fact; the relationship of employer and employee shall be determined in accordance with the principles of the common law governing the relation of master and servant.

In the present case, the Claimant began working as a construction worker for Sun Vista and was not required to submit a bid. The Employer had another individual, Jose De La Luz Medrano¹, supervise the claimant. The Employer did not make Mr. Medrano available to testify, nor did the Employer provide any documents evidencing Mr. Medrano's relationship with the employer. The Claimant was provided certain tools, and was required to work from 8:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m., Monday through Friday. The Claimant was paid \$12.00 an hour for the hours he worked. The Claimant did not have a license to engage in the type of work that he performed, nor did the Claimant advertise his services to the public.

Thus, it is the contention of MDES that the facts found in record prove that the employer controlled the claimant and failed to prove the Claimant was an independent contractor. The decision of the Board of Review finding that the ALJ was correct in determining that an employer/employee relationship existed between the Claimant and Sun Vista, Inc., should be affirmed.

¹ Mr. Medrano is referred to as Jose Delacruz in the ALJ hearing and also in the ALJ opinion.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

The provisions of Mississippi Code Annotated Section 71-5-531 govern this appeal. That Section states that the appeals court shall consider the record made before the Board of Review of the Mississippi Department of Employment Security, and absent fraud, shall accept the findings of fact if supported by substantial evidence, and the correct law has been applied. <u>Miss. Employment Sec. Comm'n v. PDN, Inc.</u>, 586 So.2d 838, 840 (Miss.1991); <u>Barnett v. Miss.</u> <u>Emp. Sec. Comm'n</u>, 583 So. 2d 193, 195 (Miss.1991); <u>Wheeler v. Arriola</u>, 408 So. 2d 1381, 1384 (Miss. 1982).

In Barnett, the Mississippi Supreme Court held that:

{J}udicial review, under <u>Miss Code Ann. Section</u> 71-5-531 (1972), is in most circumstances, limited to questions of law, to-wit:

In any judicial proceedings under this section, the findings of the board of review as to the facts, if supported by substantial evidence and in the absence of fraud, shall be conclusive, and the jurisdiction of said shall be confined to questions of law.

Barnett, 583 So. 2d at 195. Furthermore, a rebuttable presumption exists in favor of the Board of Review's decision and the challenging party has the burden of proving otherwise. <u>Allen v.</u> <u>Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n</u>, 639 So. 2d 904, 906 (Miss. 1994). The appeals court also must not reweigh the facts, nor insert its judgment for that of the agency. <u>McLaurin v. Miss. Emp. Sec.</u> <u>Comm'n</u>, 435 So. 2d 1170, 1172 (Miss. 1983). The burden of proof in a status case is upon the party seeking to show that the worker is not an employee. <u>Mississippi Emp. Sec. Comm'n v.</u> <u>PDN, Inc., 586 So.2d 838, 840 (Miss. 1991)</u>.

II. The Board of Review's decision should be affirmed, finding that the ALJ's decision was correct in its holding that an employer/employee relationship existed between the Claimant, David Alford, and the employer, Sun Vista, Inc., pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated Section 71-5-11 J(14)(2007).

A. Employer/Employee Relationship

Mississippi Code Annotated Section 71-5-11 J(14) provides that services performed by an individual for wages shall be deemed to be employment subject to this Chapter, unless and until it is shown to the satisfaction of the Agency that such an individual has been and will continue to be free from control and direction over the performance of such service both under his contract of services and in fact; and the relationship of employer and employee shall be determined in accordance with the principles of the common law governing the relation of master and servant.

In determining the type of employment relationship, whether employee/employer or independent contractor, the factors to consider are:

(1) The extent of control exercised over the details of the work;

(2) Whether or not the one employed is engaged in a distinct occupation or business;

(3) The skill required in the particular occupation;

(4) Whether the employer supplies the tools and place of work for the person doing the work;

(5) The length of time for which the person is employed;

(6) The method of payment, whether by the time or by the job; and

(7) Whether or not the work is a part of the regular business of the employer.

<u>PDN, Inc.</u>, 586 So.2d at 841-42 (citing <u>Miss. Employment Sec. Comm'n v. Plumbing Wholesale</u> <u>Co.</u>, 219 Miss. 724, 69 So.2d 814 (1954)). However, the most important factor to be considered in determining whether an individual is an employee or an independent contractor is whether the employer has the right to exercise control over the work of the employee. <u>Estate of Dulaney v.</u> <u>Miss. Employment Sec. Comm'n.</u>, 805 So.2d 643, 646 (¶13) (Miss.Ct.App.2002). The Mississippi Supreme Court has previously held that "one may be actually under slight supervision or control but still be an employee where the right of control existed and the service performed was a part of the regular business of the alleged employer." <u>Miss. Employment Sec.</u> <u>Comm'n v. Logan</u>, 248 Miss. 595, 600, 159 So.2d 802, 804 (1964).

The Employer in this case argues that the Board's decision is not supported by substantial evidence, and should be reversed. This argument is based primarily on the fact that the Claimant did not participate in the hearing before the ALJ. Furthermore, the Employer cites a list of "facts" from the record as support for their position that no employer/employee relationship existed between Mr. Alford and Sun Vista.

MDES argues that there is substantial evidence in the record to show that Sun Vista exerted significant control over Mr. Alford. Evidence can also be found in the record which conflicts with many of these "facts" the Employer relies on to support their position.

The Independent Contractor Questionnaire completed by Mr. Alford and submitted into evidence shows that Mr. Alford obtained his job with Sun Vista as a "walk in." Jim Gurley told the Claimant his rate of pay would be \$12.00 per hour. He had to work from 8:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. Monday through Friday and "Jose" was his supervisor. He was given a lunch break and provided some tools by Sun Vista. He was not required to carry liability or property insurance and he had no license to engage in the type of work he did. (See Independent Contractor Questionnaire, (R. Vol. 3, p. 95-97)).

Moreover, this information was bolstered by the testimony of MDES Tax Field Representative, Larry Ladner. Mr. Ladner testified that he interviewed Mr. Alford and was told that Sun Vista told him where to work, what time to be there, and what to do while he was on the job. (R. Vol. 3, p. 80). Mr. Alford also told Mr. Ladner that he was paid by Sun Vista and Sun Vista provided tools to Mr. Alford to complete his work. (R. Vol. 3, p. 81).

The Employer's Representative, Jim Gurley, also admitted that they carried Worker's Compensation Insurance on the Claimant and did not require Mr. Alford to carry his own liability or property insurance. (R. Vol. 3, p. 66-67). Mr. Gurley also admitted that he issued a 1099 to Mr. Alford. (R. Vol. 3, p. 55).

The Employer relies heavily on their contention that Mr. Alford was an independent contractor of a "Mr. Jose De La Luz Medrano." However, the Employer did not produce Mr. Medrano as a witness or provide any documentation to support this claim. Moreover, Mr. Alford signed an independent contractor agreement with Sun Vista, and not Mr. Medrano. (R. Vol. 3, p. 107). He was also issued a 1099 by Sun Vista and not Mr. Medrano. (R. Vol. 3, p. 107)

MDES asserts that the facts found in the record prove that Sun Vista had the right to exercise control over Mr. Alford, and exercised this right on a daily basis. Moreover, Sun Vista failed to show by substantial evidence that Mr. Alford was an independent contractor. MDES asks that this Court affirm the decision of the Board of Review finding that an employer/employee relationship existed between the Claimant, David Alford, and the Employer, Sun Vista, Inc., and that wages should be reported and contributions paid for the Claimant and all similarly situated employees.

B. Hearsay Evidence

The Employer asserts that the Board of Review's decision is based largely on hearsay evidence; however, MDES asserts that the Employer did not object to any of this evidence being entered during the hearing, nor did they make this argument to the Board of Review. MDES asserts that Sun Vista has waived its right to argue this issue since it failed to assert it before the ALJ or the Board of Review. This Court has "repeatedly held that an issue not raised before the lower court is deemed waived and is procedurally barred." <u>Public Employee's Retirement</u> <u>System v. Freeman</u>, 868 So. 2d 327 (Miss. 2004); (*citing Davis v. State*, 684 So. 2d 643, 658 (Miss. 1996); <u>Cole v. State</u>, 525 So. 2d 365, 369 (Miss. 1987). MDES asserts that since Sun Vista failed to argue this issue before the ALJ or the Board of Review, or circuit court, it is

10

procedurally barred and cannot be considered now by this Honorable Court. However, MDES will address this issue in its brief if this Honorable Court decides this issue has not been waived.

Hearsay evidence is admissible in an administrative proceeding. The question for this Court to determine is if there was "substantial evidence" in the record to support the Board's decision. The meaning of "substantial evidence" has been considered by the Mississippi Supreme Court. In <u>Williams v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission & Anderson-</u> Tully Co., the court held:

We are of the opinion the word "evidence" in § 71-5-531 should likewise be construed to mean substantial evidence. Application of the substantial evidence rule to the case on appeal would require reversal because uncorroborated hearsay is not substantial evidence, even though hearsay is admissible in an administrative proceeding.

Williams, 395 So. 2d 964, 966 (Miss. 1981). Also, the Supreme Court has held that:

"Substantial evidence has been defined as 'such relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion' or to put it simply, more than a 'mere scintilla' of evidence." <u>Hooks v. George County</u>, 748 So. 2d 678, 680 (¶ 10) (Miss. 1999) (quoting <u>Johnson</u> <u>v. Ferguson</u>, 435 So. 2d 1191, 1195 (Miss.1983)). "Substantial evidence" is not uncorroborated hearsay. Miss. Employment Sec. Comm'n v. Flanagan, 585 So. 2d 783, 785 (Miss. 1991)

Moreover, the Court of Appeals has recently expounded on the meaning of substantial evidence in the case of <u>McClinton v. Mississippi Department of Employment Security</u>, 949 So. 2d 805 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). In <u>McClinton</u>, the Court of Appeals stated "that if hearsay, even if not corroborated in the traditional sense, is highly probative because it has strong indicia of reliability, it can at least in many situations be substantial evidence." <u>McClinton</u>, 949 So. 2d at 814-15(¶29). Such hearsay may include properly admitted personal affidavits even where contradicted by the live testimony of a witness, and where there is no corroborative live testimony. <u>Id.</u>

11

Given this guidance from case law, MDES examines the evidence relied upon by the Board of Review in this matter. First, MDES asserts that the evidence the Employer asserts is hearsay is not hearsay under the law. The Claimant and the Employer completed an independent contractor's questionnaire. These are business documents and are records of regularly conducted activity as defined by Rule 803 of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence. They were made by a person with knowledge, kept in the course of a regularly conducted business activity, and the questionnaires are used in the regular practice of MDES in making status decisions as shown by the testimony of the MDES Tax Specialist Noreen Prouty. As such these documents are not hearsay.

Moreover, the ALJ's Findings of Facts focus on several statements that were corroborated by the Employer's testimony and other documents found in the record. Sun Vista admitted that it carried worker's compensation insurance on Mr. Alford; Sun Vista paid Mr. Alford and issued him a 1099. Thus, based on the holdings in <u>Williams</u> and <u>McClinton</u>, the independent contractor questionnaires, coupled with the testimony of Larry Ladner and Noreen Prouty, and the admissions by the Employer, amount to substantial evidence under the law. Finally, MDES would like to reiterate that the Employer must prove that an employer/employee relationship does not exist. Based on their on admissions during the hearing, they failed to meet this burden. The decision of MDES is supported by the evidence and this Court should affirm.

III. The Court cannot consider new evidence that was not presented and considered by the Administrative Law Judge or the Board of Review.

Under Rule 5.01 of the Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules, all administrative cases appealed to circuit court shall be on the record and not a trial de novo. Thus, the official record in this matter is the record made before the agency, and no new evidence can be considered. In the present case, the Employer argues that new evidence has been made available and should be considered by the Court. The Employer has attached to its brief the Independent Contractor Agreement between Sun Vista, Inc. and Jose De La Luz Medrano; and an affidavit of Mr. Medrano. The Employer argues that MDES should have interviewed Mr. Medrano before making its decision. However, as previously stated, it is the Employer's burden to present any evidence to prove that an employer/employee relationship did not exist. It was the Employer who failed to procure any documents or present Mr. Medrano at the hearing before the ALJ. The Employer provides no reason as to why this document or Mr. Medrano's testimony was unavailable until now. If this evidence was so crucial to proving their case, the Employer should have taken all necessary steps to ensure that it was considered by the ALJ and included in the record. Furthermore, MDES should have the right to cross-examine Mr. Medrano and review the Independent Contractor Agreement. Based on this, MDES argues that this Court cannot consider any of this evidence in making its decision.

Additionally, MDES asserts that even if Mr. Medrano was the Claimant's employer, Sun Vista assumed control and responsibility for the Claimant when it signed an independent contractor agreement with him, signed his paychecks, issued him a 1099 and carried worker's compensation insurance on Mr. Alford. Thus, the argument that Mr. Medrano is responsible for the Claimant is irrelevant.

However, if this Court should find that the Employer had good cause for failing to provide this evidence during the ALJ hearing, MDES asserts that the proper course of action would be to remand this cause back to the Board of Review in order to preserve the due process rights of all parties involved. While MDES maintains that remand is not necessary based on the record, remand would allow Mr. Medrano to give his testimony, it would give MDES the opportunity to cross-examine Mr. Medrano, and it would allow all parties the opportunity to review Mr. Medrano's contract with Sun Vista. If this Court should remand this cause back to the Board for consideration of this evidence, MDES asserts that it is only equitable that the Board be allowed to attempt to obtain the Claimant's testimony as well.² Thus, all relevant parties would be allowed to participate and be cross-examined.

÷

÷

² MDES did subpoena the Claimant, David Alford, to testify at the hearing before the ALJ; however, he failed to appear.

CONCLUSION

There is substantial evidence to support the findings of fact and the opinion of the Board of Review that an employer/employee relationship existed between the Claimant, David Alford, and the Employer, Sun Vista, Inc., and that wages should be reported and contributions paid for the Claimant and all similarly situated employees. Thus, this Honorable Court should affirm the decision of the Board of Review in this matter.